The Estuary, Tweedmouth  – Archaeological Desk Based Assessment


SUMMARY

This report has been compiled by The Bamburgh Research Project for Berand Homes Limited during March 2005. The report sets out the archaeological background and assesses the archaeological potential for the development site and its vicinity. 

The development site lies adjacent to Well Square (NGR NT 9959 5221) and between Tower Road and Lees Lane, within Tweedmouth in the Borough of Berwick upon Tweed, Northumberland. The site occupies a relatively level piece of ground within a more general area that slopes from somewhat higher ground to the south west down towards the north east. A geotechinical investigation carried out at the site during 2003 indicated variable depths of soils above a red clayey sand subsoil. 

Although there is evidence for prehistoric activity within the lower Tweed valley area there is no indication that prehistoric features are likely to be present in the development area. It has been proposed that a Roman fort lay at Tweedmouth, a hypothesis supported by the likely continuation of the Devil’s Causeway Roman road to Tweedmouth and the known Roman military presence in the Tweed Valley. Should such a fort have been present then it is likely to have been located in the area of the later church, to the north of the development site, which lay adjacent to a ford across the Tweed, or on the high ground to the west. 

The aforementioned church of St Bartholemew, formerly St Boisil’s, is potentially an early medieval foundation. It was a small chapel of ease and as such is unlikely to be surrounded by extensive features. A castle was constructed at Tweedmouth by 1202, almost certainly sited to control the river crossing. A series of bridges replaced a low water ford that crossed the Tweed between the area of the church and the line of Sandgate in Berwick by the 12th century. The original focus of medieval Tweedmouth must have been in the area of the church, shifting by the 13th century north to the area of Berwick Old Bridge. This, together with the reported presence of a medieval pottery kiln some 60m to the south of the development site would indicate that it lay within the extent of medieval Tweedmouth, potentially within an industrial quarter.

The Scottish war of independence that began towards the end of the 13th century is likely to have adversely affected the prosperity of Tweedmouth as it did the larger town of Berwick. The town is unlikely to have recovered until after the Union of the Crowns in the early 17th century. Most of the older surviving buildings within town date from the 18th century and lie to the north of the development site. The Enclosure Award map of 1799, shows the development site as an open garden. During the 19th century the site area was built up and took on the character of an industrial suburb. 

Cartographic evidence indicates the presence of a substantial winged building on the south eastern part of the site by the end of the 19th century, the foundations for which are likely to have been of sufficient depth to impact upon preserved archaeological deposits. In conjunction with the evidence from the geotechnical test pits, the surrounding topography indicates that the site was terraced into the slope in order to produce a level construction platform. As a result, any archaeological deposits that had been present in the western part of the site are likely to have been truncated, perhaps as far as the central part of the site. Excavation of the foundations for the proposed development could impact on possible archaeological deposits in the northern and eastern part of the development site. 

PROJECT BACKGROUND

1.0 Introduction 
1.0.1
This report has been compiled by The Bamburgh Research Project for Berand Homes Limited during March 2005. The assessment report sets out the archaeological background to the proposed development and the information sources consulted. Recorded archaeological features within the development area and the vicinity are summarised, and the potential for previously unrecorded remains is assessed. The predicted impact of the development upon the potential archaeology is also assessed.

1.0.2
The Planning Application Number for the proposed development is 04/B/0025. The Northumberland County Council Conservation Team reference is B38/6; 2961. The OASIS reference number is bamburgh1-7300. 
2.0 
THE SITE

2.1
Location

2.1.1
The development site lies adjacent to Well Square (NGR NT 9959 5221) and between Tower Road and Lees Lane, within Tweedmouth in the Borough of Berwick upon Tweed, Northumberland. The site lies within a designated conservation area (Figure 1).

2.2
Description

2.2.1
The site is broadly rectangular in shape and measures 38m north west to south east by 28m south west to north east and encompasses 1064m2 in area. The ground within the site is broadly level but falls away slightly to the north west. A number of buildings formally contained within the site have been demolished and remains of these structures survive in places within the site. The site is generally covered by rough ground, weeds and vegetation with concrete ground slabs visible on the south west side (Plates 2 and 3). The general topography of the area slopes down from south west to north east. The development area is generally level, however this appears to be the result of previous terracing into the slope. The soils and geology consist of Lower Carboniferous (Dinantian) rocks, comprising cementstone, Fell Sandstone, Scremeston Coal group and the lower and middle Carboniferous Limestone groups. These are overlain by boulder clays and localised riverine deposits, mostly sands and gravels.

2.3
Results of geotechnical investigation
2.3.1
A site investigation was carried by Mckay and Partners, working to the instruction of Aitchison Building Design Ltd. at the Estuary Site on 1st August 2003. The investigation comprised the excavation of six geotechnical trial pits by JCB excavator to a depth of no less than 1.1m (Figure 6). 

2.3.2
The trial pits revealed that the subsoil comprised a red clayey sand layer overlying stony or clay layers. Variable depths of topsoil and make-up deposits were identified above the subsoil levels within the pits. The general trend supports the theory that the south western portion of the site was terraced into the slope. The trial pit logs are included as Appendix II.

3.0
METHODOLOGY AND INFORMATION SOURCES

3.0.1
The aim of the desk-based assessment is:

· To identify and locate known archaeological sites within or adjacent (within 400m) to the proposed development area 

· To identify areas with the potential to contain unrecorded archaeological remains 

· To asses the impact of previous disturbances and construction on the site

· To assess the physical impact of the development upon the archaeological resource

3.0.2
The report is based upon a review of available existing information, desk studies and field inspection. The following data sources were utilised for the assessment:

· Sites and monuments record (SMR) 

· Cartographic sources

· Published and unpublished historical and archaeological studies 

· Ground investigation derived from geotechnical test pits

· Walkover survey of the proposed development area

4.0
HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND
4.1
The prehistoric period
4.1.1
No known prehistoric sites lie within the immediate vicinity of the site. Prehistoric activity is however known within the general area. A Bronze Age cist burial was found in Tweedmouth, c.500m to the north west (Figure 2, no. 2440), while others are known at Cocklaw Hills, some 2.5km to the north west. Aerial photography has identified a number of sites in the broad area. A cropmark defining a large enclosure lies at Needle’s Eye, 2km north of the site. A possible pit alignment has been identified at West Edge Farm 2.6km to the north west.

4.2
The Roman period

4.2.1
The Roman Road, known as the Devil’s Causeway extends northwards through Northumberland from just north of Corbridge, where it branches from Dere Street Roman Road (Margary 1967). The road is projected to extend to Tweedmouth, but is not well traced north of Lowick. The presence of a Roman road to Tweedmouth would indicate some presence at the site in the Roman period. This has been proposed in the form of a fort or even a port. Dr M. C. Bishop has further proposed the lines of the A1 and A698 as possible Roman roads, all converging on the Tweedmouth area and in the case of the A1 represents the continuation of the route on into Scotland (Bishop pers comm.). 

4.2.2
Prior to modern dredging of the river a low water ford was present between Tweedmouth and Berwick (Figure 1). It extended from the line of Sandgate in Berwick across the river to the vicinity of St Bartholomew’s Church (Cowe 1998, 31). If a fort was sited to control this ford then it would lie close to the development area, perhaps beneath the church site itself or on the higher ground in the area of the Knowe Head to the west of the church, as proposed by Mr F. Cowe (Bishop, pers comm.). It should be noted however that while the presence of a Roman fort a Tweedmouth is logical no archaeological evidence for such a feature exists at present and it is possible that the Roman presence in the area was limited. Roman finds from Tweedmouth comprise a single Roman coin of the Emperor Constantine (AD 274-337) found c.500m to the west of the development area in the Tweedside Trading Estate (ref N24060) (Figure 1).  
4.3
The early medieval period

4.3.1
In the early medieval period Tweedmouth lay within the estate of Islandshire, which was granted to the church and monastic community of Lindisfarne, founded in the 7th century. The focus of this church was moved first to Chester-le-Street in the 9th century before being permanently established at Durham. During the medieval period, St Bartholomew’s Church was formally a Chapelry of Lindisfarne, dedicated to St Boisil, the prior of Melrose monastery associated with St Cuthbert’s early years (Raine 1852, 245). St Boisil’s at Tweedmouth was a chapel of ease during the later medieval period and may have originated in the pre-conquest period (Figure 2, no. 2568). 

4.4
The medieval period
4.4.1
Islandshire remained an estate in the ownership of church of Durham throughout the medieval period. As has been stated St Bartholemew’s Church, formerly St Boisil’s was a chapel of ease during the medieval period, known from AD 1145 (Raine, 245). 

4.4.2 The settlement at Tweedmouth during the medieval period must always have been small compared to the major trading settlement across the Tweed at Berwick. Its location is likely to have been dictated by the presence of the river crossing. Several medieval documents survive detailing grants of land in Tweedmouth to a number of monasteries, including a grant of AD 1189 of a toft adjacent to the Church of St. Boysilus (Raine, 78). The use of the term ‘toft’ implies the presence of an area of delineated, village-like or semi-urban land around the church by the late 12th century. 

4.4.3 Groundworks within the garden of a property some 60m south of the development site (Figure 2) during c.1991 revealed what appeared to be the disturbed remains of a pottery kiln (P. Thomas, pers comm.). A considerable quantity of late medieval pottery, including wasters and kiln structure were recovered. Most of the material has been removed from Tweedmouth. However, a few sherds were retained by Mr. and Mrs. Thomas, owners of Tower House Potteries, which include a greenglaze decorated rod handle and a foot from a redware vessel. 

4.4.4
The presence of the low water ford is noted in the discussion of the potential for Roman activity. The river was bridged by the 12th century and repaired or rebuilt several times within the 12th and 13th centuries in wood or stone, until destroyed by a flood in AD 1294. The bridge was not replaced until the reign of Henry VII of England (AD 1485-1509) when a further timber bridge was constructed. This bridge, which spanned the river in the area between the Berwick Bridge and the Royal Tweed Bridge, served as the principal river crossing until after the Union of the Crowns (Cowe, 45). 

4.4.4
The layout of the street plan of medieval Berwick indicates an original focus towards the low water ford crossing, with the line of the great north road represented by Sandgate, Hide Hill and Church Street. A documentary reference naming the Trinitarian Friary, believed to be located at the west end of Bridge Street, as Bridge House in the mid 13th century would indicate that by this time the focus of the river crossing had moved upstream to the area of Berwick Bridge. This would suggest that any settlement at Tweedmouth may have moved or expanded from around St Bartholomew’s Church to further north between the church and the new river crossing by the 13th century. 

4.4.5
A castle was built at Tweedmouth by the Bishop of Durham. It was in existence in AD 1202 when King John of England strengthened it, suggesting a construction date in the 12th century. This castle was twice destroyed by the Scots as a threat to castle and town of Berwick. The location of this fortress is not now known but it is likely to have been constructed to dominate the river crossing. Whether this crossing was at the line of the ford or of the later bridge at the time of the castle’s construction is not known. 

4.4.6 Salmon fishing was a major industry on the Tweed during the medieval period, and probably also in the early medieval period (Watts 1997, 97-8). Analysis of medieval and later fishery names indicates developed fishing activity on the Tweedmouth side in the vicinity of the development site from the 12th century, although the two nearest fisheries are only recorded in the 19th century (Watts, 92-3, 96). It is unclear to what extent fishing activities involved permanent buildings, but any such structures are likely to have been situated on or near the foreshore, within or to the north and east of the development area. The fishing industry is likely to have formed a major part in the economy of Tweedmouth in the medieval period. 

4.4.7
A hospital was founded in the Tweedmouth area in 1234, dedicated to St Bartholomew. Its location has not been precisely established, but the settlement of Spittal, which lies 1km to the south east of Tweedmouth may well preserve evidence of the hospital site as a modern place name. Such hospital sites tended to be located away from population centres and this is likely to have been the case with the Hospital of St Bartholemew. At some stage the dedication of the hospital to Bartholomew was transposed to the church at Tweedmouth. 

4.4.8
A tower belonging to the Hospital was constructed in 1369 and stood till at least the 17th century. It is depicted as a round tower on a 1570 map The True Depiction of Her Majesty's Town of Berwick and was last mentioned in 1753, when it was said to be completely demolished (Raine, 244-5). The location is not certain but a site to the north of Spital railway station, 150m to the south east of the development area has been suggested (ref N2430). Alternately, the site of the tower may be commemorated by the names Tower Road and Tower House, a late 18th or early 19th century house some 50m south east of the development site. The presumed site is marked on early Ordnance Survey maps (Figure 2, no. 2430).

4.4.9
The Scottish war of independence, which began in 1296, had a very detrimental effect on the border region. Berwick was sacked with great brutality, by Edward I in AD 1296 and the town incorporated into England. During the following period the town changed hands on no less than 14 occasions up to 1482, when the town was permanently incorporated into England. Berwick’s first stone town wall was constructed soon after 1296 by Edwards I. It incorporated a much larger area than the 16th century walls, indicating the degree of economic collapse and depopulation that resulted from the Anglo-Scottish conflict. Tweedmouth is likely to have suffered a similar level of economic and social stress during this period. Its principle importance would have been as a military base of operations during the times when Berwick lay in Scottish hands. 

4.5
The post medieval period

4.5.1
The estate of Tweedmouth remained in the possession of the Church of Durham until the reign of Elizabeth I of England (1558-1603). The estate was purchased from the Earl of Suffolk by the Corporation of Berwick for £570 in 1657.

4.5.1
The Tudor wooden bridge was replaced after the Union of the Crowns by a stone bridge constructed between 1611 and 1634. The settlement at Tweedmouth is unlikely to have achieved any great prosperity until after the end of the border disputes at the union of the Crowns in 1603. The present St Bartholemew’s Church was constructed in 1753 almost certainly on the site of the medieval St Boisil’s (Raine, 245). Early cartographic evidence indicates a modest settlement. The first depiction of Tweedmouth is on The True Depiction of Her Majesty's Town of Berwick of 1570. Here, three groups of houses, together with a round tower (see above) are a stylised representation of the settlement. Speed’s map of 1610 represents the settlement at Tweedmouth by a single building and a field. Armstrong’s map of 1769 shows stylised urban development focused between the church and the bridge as expected, with few buildings to the south of the church (Figure 3). This map seems to indicate that the development area lay on the periphery of the settlement at that time. The Enclosure Award maps of Tweedmouth, dated 1799, provide by far the earliest detailed survey. The development site is shown as an open garden belonging to Vincent Lamberts, who lived in a property immediately outside the development to the south east (corresponding to No. 7 Tower Road). The northern boundary of the development site is marked as ‘fronting to River Tweed’, while the eastern corner is marked ‘joining a Common Passage or Rd called the Steathe’. Both Fryer’s Map of 1820 and Greenwood’s of 1828 show a ribbon settlement extending from the church along the bank of the Tweed with open space to the landward side between the river and the main Berwick to Newcastle road. However, the detail on both maps is relatively poor.

4.5.2
Most of the early buildings in Tweedmouth lie along main Street between St Bartholomew’s and the Bridge and date to the 18th century, the time when the village grew in prosperity. Clifford House, now part of the Royal Hotel is a rare exception being a 17th century structure. The first edition Ordnance Survey of 1865 depicts three buildings spread rather sparsely over the site, two of which are termed ‘temporary structures’ and the site is marked as a timber yard (Figures 4 and 5). The second edition of the Ordnance Survey of 1898 depicts a single large building with three wings or offshoots occupying the eastern half of the development site with the western half an open area (Figure 5). Further infilling of the site had occurred by the compilation of the 3rd edition in 1924. These buildings stood on the site until the 1980s, when the majority of them were demolished, after which the site was used as a builder’s yard. 

4.5.3
The Royal Border Bridge (1847-50) was the final link in the Newcastle to Edinburgh railway line. Tweedmouth had its station, located 200m to the south of the development site. Tweed Dock located to the north of the church was opened in 1876 in order to provide an area of deep-water anchorage at the mouth of the Tweed. The building of the Tweed Dock resulted in the reclamation of a considerable area of land to the north and south of the dock. Prior to this, the north east edge of the development site had been on or very near the river edge. The dock development resulted in the construction of Dock road and the moving of the river edge back by some 80m. A rail link between the Dock and the station was present but passed well to the north of the site on reclaimed ground. An 18th century brewery lay near to the dock and a short lived (1799-1810) ship building yard lay to the north. The activities undertaken in the area would indicate that much of Tweedmouth had the character of an industrial suburb to Berwick in the 19th century.

5.0
Importance of the archaeology 

5.0.1
Although it is known that the Tweed Valley was settled in the prehistoric period, there is little archaeological evidence to suggest that the development site itself was occupied. 

5.0.2
It has been proposed that a Roman fort lay at Tweedmouth, a hypothesis supported by the likely continuation of the Devil’s Causeway to Tweedmouth and the known Roman military presence in the Tweed Valley. The most logical position for such a fort would be in the area of the Church of St Bartholomew, 75m to the north west of the site or on the high ground now occupied by the Co-op Supermarket. In both cases, such a position would allow the fort to dominate the ford across the Tweed. It is possible therefore that the development area lies close to a Roman site of some importance. It should be noted, however, that the there is very little evidence to indicate a substantial or long term Roman presence in the area and as such the possibility of Roman archaeology being encountered remains a matter of speculation.  

5.0.3
It can be speculated that the church of St Bartholemew, formally St Boisil originated in the pre-conquest period. If this was the case then the urban footprint of such an establishment would not have been great and is unlikely to have extended as far as the development area. 

5.0.4
The extent of medieval urban development at Tweedmouth is not yet clear but given the importance of the town of Berwick immediately across the Tweed, as a regional marketplace, it is unlikely to have been extensive. The medieval settlement is likely to have been centred in the area of the church and the low water ford up to the 12th to 13th centuries and in the area between the church and the bridge during later times. This river crossing will have dictated the positioning of the castle but it is not known if this crossing was the bridge or the ford as the construction date of the castle is uncertain.

5.0.5
The Enclosure Map and first edition Ordnance Survey street plans do not offer any clear indication of the preservation of a medieval street layout. Whilst it is entirely likely that the development area lies within the footprint of medieval Tweedmouth, it may have been peripheral to the main focus of the settlement, particularly after the construction of the bridge. It is reasonable to believe therefore that medieval archaeology, of a domestic or industrial nature could be encountered within the development area. The English Heritage, Research Agenda, H5, “The origins and development of the medieval town and rural markets” lays out the importance of the study of such sites (EH 1997). The discovery of what appears to be a late medieval pottery kiln, some 75m from the development area, is potentially of great importance. Although it is entirely possible that this represents an isolated feature, if a wider industry were present it would be of considerable interest as the medieval pottery industry of Northumberland and the Tweed Valley is not at all well understood. The significance of studying pottery production sites is set out by English Heritage (1997) Research Agenda T7, “Patterns of craftsmanship and industry”.
5.0.6
The importance of Tweedmouth is likely to have diminished during the course of the border conflict of the later medieval period. The site is unlikely to have recovered substantially before the 18th century. From this time the site was certainly within the urban extent of the Tweedmouth settlement and was occupied by buildings. Whether the first structures depicted on the cartographic evidence represented domestic or entirely industrial structures is not known but it is clear that by the mid 19th century industrial activity dominated the development area and its vicinity. It is possible that industrial features of archaeological interest could be present on the site. There is, however, no evidence to suggest activities of particular interest with the exception of the salmon fishing industry, which was of special importance to the Tweed Valley economy from at least the medieval period. Well preserved remains relating to fishing or fish processing, of any period, if encountered would be of interest and consideration should be given to their recording. 

5.0.7
Due to the very low level of archaeological investigation that has taken place in Tweedmouth little information is available regarding the likely depths at which archaeological deposit may survive. The excavation of six geotechnical test pits provides some information regarding the subsurface conditions. A red clayey sand encountered at a depth between 0.15m to 1.4m in depth could represent subsoil. If this is the case then scope for the survival of archaeological material exists in the area of pits 2, 3 and 5 (Figure 6). 

6.0
IDENTIFIED IMPACTS

6.0.1
Cartographic evidence from the 2nd Edition OS map onwards show the presence of a substantial range of buildings within the eastern half of the development site. Foundations for these structures are likely to have affected any archaeological deposits present, to an unknown depth (Figure 5). Services to the buildings are not recorded but are also likely to have had an impact on archaeological remains.

6.0.1
The general topography around the development area slopes down from south west to north east. However the development area is generally level, suggesting that previous buildings or other activity has terraced back into the natural slope. Results from test pits 1, 4 and 2, viewed as a crude section across the site support this interpretation (Figure 6). Natural subsoil in test pit 1 was encountered at a depth of 0.15m, and at 0.3m in test pit 4. However in test pit 2, a total of 1.4m of deposit was encountered above natural subsoil. Extrapolation of these results would suggest truncation of potential archaeological deposits in the western part of the site, perhaps as far as the centre of the development area.
7.0
Conclusions

7.0.1 There is indication from documentary evidence that archaeological remains could be encountered within the development area. There is no direct evidence for prehistoric activity, although the possibility of unexpected finds exists. A case can be made for a possible Roman and early medieval presence, in the form of roads and putative fort, and a church (respectively) within the general area of the site. However, again no direct evidence exists to indicate such activity within the development area.

7.0.2 During the medieval period, there is clear evidence for activity, including the Bishop of Durham’s castle, the bridge and an area of village or urban activity (‘tofts’) around the church. The reported presence of a kiln of medieval date 60m south of the development area when taken in conjunction with the close proximity of church, tofts and likely location of the castle can be taken as indicative that the development area lay within the extent of medieval Tweedmouth. Later cartographic evidence indicates that the development site was utilised as a garden from at least the late 18th century, and for industrial activities from the first half of the 19th century until the 1980s. 

7.0.3
There is no indication from the trial pitting that waterlogged anaerobic deposits could be encountered within the development site. Any archaeological deposits would still however have the potential to produce valuable palaeoenvironmental remains, particularly from domestic or fish-processing activities, the latter of specific interest to the Tweed Valley.

7.0.4
Geotechnical assessment suggests that foundations for the proposed development be laid on natural subsoil, and further conclude that those at the north west side of the development, closest to Lees Lane may require more substantial foundations to support the building. It is therefore clear that the excavation of foundations and associated services of the new structure would have a substantial effect on any preserved archaeological deposits. The impact of previous activity in the south west area of the site would however suggest that any archaeological deposits here have already been truncated. 

Text: Philip Wood and Graeme Young

Illustrations: Graeme Young
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APPENDIX I. Archaeological and Historic Sites.

(within 400m)

SMR ID
Type


Grid ref.

Date

Form

14064

Listed building

NT 9988452605

Post-med
House

14080

Listed building

NT 9991252517

Post-med
House

14081

Listed building

NT 9993152512

Post-med
House

2430

Fortification (site)
NT 99685211

Medieval
Tower

2433

Bridge


NT995527

Post-med
Bridge

2435

Workshop (site)

NT99415268

Post-med
House

2436

Bridge (site)

NT995527

Medieval
Bridge

2440

Burial


NT99345266

Bronze Age
Cist

2448

Find


NT99975249

Roman

Quern

2458

Structure

NT99555273

Unknown
Causeway

2461

Listed building

NT99445230

Post-med
Brewery

2475

Listed building

NT99415265

Post-med
House

2476

Listed building

NT99985256

Post-med
House

2477

Listed building

NT99885254

Post-med
Guardhouse

2479

Listed building

NT9988252622

Post-med
Custom House

2480

Listed building

NT9988352612

Post-med
House

2481

Listed building

NT9988152593

Post-med
House

2482

Listed building

NT99915251

Post-med
House

2498

Building

NT998526

Post-med
Power station

2504

Structure

NT99805268

Medieval
Quay

2519

Listed building

NT99425227

Post-med
Building

2568

Listed building

NT99565228

Post-med
Church

2616

Listed building

NT9942452654

Post-med
Gate pier

2617

Listed building

NT99425264

Post-med
House

2618

Listed building

NT99445259

Post-med
House

2619

Listed building

NT9944752534

Post-med
House

2620

Listed building

NT99445252

Post-med
House

2621

Listed building

NT9945052515

Post-med
House

2622

Listed building

NT99465251

Post-med
House

2623

Listed building

NT99465250

Post-med
House

2624

Listed building

NT9946052485

Post-med
House

2625

Listed building

NT9946252475

Post-med
House

2646

Listed building

NT99645217

Post-med
House

2647

Listed building

NT99955258

Post-med
Wall/Gate pier

2651

Listed building

NT9994052595

Post-med
House

2652

Listed building

NT99935258

Post-med
House

2653

Listed building

NT9992552575

Post-med
House

2654

Listed building

NT99995251

Post-med
House

2655

Listed building

NT9997852519

Post-med
House

2656

Listed building

NT9990552625

Post-med
House

2657

Listed building

NT99925260

Post-med
House

2658

Listed building

NT9989052605

Post-med
House

2664

Listed building

NT9980752656

Post-med
Granary

2673

Listed building

NT99885264

Post-med
House

2713

Palace (site)

NT999525

Medieval
Palace

2717

Fortification (site)
NT 99375233

Medieval
Castle

2722

Structure

NT996523

Post-med
Dock

APPENDIX II Geotechnical investigation: Trial pit logs

Pit
Depth (mm)

Layer description
1
0-150


Topsoil and grass


150-700


Red firm clayey sand


700-1400

Fractured sandstone mixed with firm red clayey sand

2
0-400


Loose builders rubbish and soil with weeds


400-550


Concrete slab on Well Square side of pit (75-150mm thick)


550-1400

Black topsoil, numerous small roots


1400-1900

Red firm clayey sand


1900-3000

Grey soft silty clay

3
0-200


Topsoil with grass


200-830


Dark brown firm sandy clay with cobbles


830-1500

Grey soft silty clay with gravel


1500-2500

Soft to very soft silty sand

4
0-80


Topsoil


80-300


Compacted fill


300-1800

Red firm sandy clay with numerous sandstone cobbles and boulders 

5
0-1100


Dark brown topsoil, numerous small roots. Possible line of pipe 

track. Unable to excavate deeper due to large lumps of concrete

6
0-170


Topsoil/rubble


170-320


Concrete slab (80-150mm thick)


320-1000

Rubble with large pieces of stone


1000-1800

Red firm sandy clay with numerous sandstone cobbles and boulders

All sides of the test pits were stable and dry with the exception of pit 3, which encountered water ingress at a depth of 2.2m. 

APPENDIX III Specification

Planning ref: 04/B/0025

Our ref: B38/6; 2961

Grid ref: NT 9959 5221

LAND AT THE ESTUARY, TWEEDMOUTH, NORTHUMBERLAND

Brief for an Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment

Introduction

A planning application has been submitted for the erection of a block of flats at The Estuary, Tweedmouth. (Fig 1). It is popularly thought that any medieval settlement at Tweedmouth probably lay to the west of St Bartholomew’s church, towards the bridge, however, recent evidence may indicate that medieval remains continued further south-east, close to the proposed development area. The owner of Tower Pottery, formerly Tower Villa, informed the County Archaeologist that remains of a medieval pottery kiln were uncovered several years ago, during groundworks on the driveway. Tower Pottery is located c.30m south-east of the proposed development area and there is the potential that comparable or associated archaeological remains could continue into this area. 

Tweedmouth increased in size and prosperity from the 18th century onwards and a number of industries developed including the extensive 18th century Tweedmouth Border Brewery and Maltings. c.154m north-west of the site. The Tweed Dock was opened in 1876 in order to provide Berwick with a substantial area of deep water for trading ships. The First Edition Ordnance Survey map of c.1860 shows the proposed development area in use as a timber yard, no doubt associated with the boat builder’s shed and yard to the immediate north. 

The available evidence appears to indicate that this area and this site have had an industrial function since at least the 19th century, possibly as far back as the medieval period. As a consequence, Northumberland County Council Conservation Team has advised Berwick Borough Council that the archaeological potential of the site should be further investigated prior to the determination of this planning application. In the first instance, it has been agreed that this should take the form of an archaeological desk-based assessment.

This brief constitutes Northumberland County Council Conservation Team’s justification for the investigation, its objectives and the strategy and procedures to apply to the desk-based assessment. This brief does not constitute the ‘written scheme of investigation’ required in the planning condition. 

The brief is intended to establish the project parameters to enable an archaeological consultant or contractor to tender for the work and once commissioned to prepare and submit an appropriate Method Statement, Project Design or Specification to the Conservation Team for approval prior to work commencing. 

The extent of the development (Fig 1) has been taken from plans attached to the planning application. The archaeological consultant or contractor will need to confirm the extent of the development and the nature of the works with the developer as part of the specification. 

The Study Area

The assessment will require a detailed assessment of the proposed development area as defined in Figure 1, and a less detailed study of the surrounding area including at least a 400m radius of the site.

Potential impacts

i) The location of known archaeological sites and landscapes within the proposed development area

ii) The potential for palaeo-environmental samples within the proposed development area

iii) The density of archaeological sites in the surrounding area and the potential that comparable sites may continue into the site

iv) Previous disturbance on the site, which may have affected archaeological remains, including any significant change in levels from those indicated on old Ordnance Survey maps, and truncation by existing services on or adjacent to the site.

v) Where the information is available, the physical impact of the proposed development including:

a) Building foundations

b) Services

c) Access roads

d) Ground reduction

e) Increased vibration

f) Change in ground conditions on waterlogged or environmentally rich sites

vi) If possible, the impact of the proposed development on the visual setting of the following sites within the wider study area:

a) Scheduled Ancient Monuments

b) Listed Buildings

c) Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic Battlefields

d) Unscheduled archaeological sites of national or regional importance

Site specific issues 

 While the assessment should assess all of the impacts detailed in section 2.2, the report should make particular reference to:

i) Medieval and post-medieval industrial remains

ii) The level of potential truncation caused by late post-medieval and modern development

Sources

Site visit

A site visit should be carried out to assess:

i) The location of visible archaeological remains such as earthworks

ii) The current ground conditions

Maps

i) 1716 Warburton

ii) 1753 Horsley and Cay
iii) 1769 Armstrong
iv) 1808 Smith
v) 1820 Fryer
vi) 1828 Greenwood
vii) 1829 Pigot
viii) Tithe, apportionment and parish maps
ix) Estate maps of the area
x) Ordnance Survey maps from the First Edition onwards
xi) Service providers maps and databases (Water, Electricity, Telecoms and Gas as a minimum)
xii) Other available maps
Northumberland County Council Sites and Monuments Record

Northumberland SMR holds copies of the following sources

i) A comprehensive record of all the known archaeological sites in the County

ii) Copies of the Scheduled Ancient Monument designations

iii) Copies of the Listed Building designations

iv) Conservation Area Boundaries

Other Sources

i) Appropriate archaeological and historical journals and books

ii) Historical documents held in local museums, libraries, record offices and archives including both Northumberland and Berwick-upon-Tweed Record Offices. The commissioned archaeologists should refer to Linda Bankier (Berwick-upon-Tweed Record Office) who has a significant knowledge of this area 

iii) Unpublished material held by local archaeological organisations (amateur and professional)
iv) All available borehole, trial pit and geotechnical data from the site and its immediate environs held by the developer
v) Geomorphological information may be obtained from the Soil Survey and Land Research Centre or the Geography Department at Newcastle University
Report

The desk-based assessment is the first stage in a potential multi-staged programme of archaeological work. The assessment has been requested prior to the determination of planning permission. Further pre-determination evaluation may be required. 

Due to the strict deadlines laid out in the planning system, the archaeological contractor or consultant should submit a copy of the report to Northumberland County Council Conservation Team and their client within 20 working days of being commissioned to carry out the work.

The Conservation Team require two copies of the report (one bound and one unbound)

The report should be bound, with each page and paragraph numbered and illustrations cross-referenced within the text.

Text

The text should include:

i) Planning application number, Northumberland County Council Conservation Team reference, OASIS reference number and an 8 figure grid reference

ii) A description of the geology on the site

iii) The nature and extent of the proposed development and client information

iv) Period based discussion of the known and potential archaeological sites within the proposed development area

v) Discussion of the physical impact of the proposed development on known and potential archaeological sites 

vi) Impact on the visual setting of Scheduled Monuments, Listed buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic battlefields and unscheduled archaeological sites of national or regional importance

vii) Appendices listing:

i) All archaeological sites, Scheduled Monuments, Listed buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic battlefields in the proposed development area and the wider study area. This should include all known sites and sites identified during the desk-based assessment, numbered and cross-referenced in the text with sites marked on an appropriate plan (see section 4.6) 

ii) All aerial photographs within the detailed study area and immediate environs, quoting the reference number, date and cross-referenced to the gazetteer where appropriate

iii) A copy of the specification

Illustrations

i) A location plan of the site at an appropriate scale of at least 1:10 000

ii) A location plan of the extent of the proposed development area.  This must be at a recognizable planning scale, and located with reference to the national grid, to allow the results to be accurately plotted on the Sites and Monuments Record

iii) Copies of all maps described in the text with the extent of the proposed development area marked on each map. Where copyright prevents the inclusion of a map in the report, a hand-drawn copy should be provided.    NB Some maps can be included in unpublished reports with the copyright included at the base of the map. Where possible historic maps should be transcribed either by hand or digitally, as an overlay on to the 1st Edition Ordnance Survey (or earliest OS Map) to allow details to be assessed in relation to recent features.
iv) Copies of aerial photographs (AP) showing archaeological sites or plans with the cropmarks drawn in the correct location. Where copyright prevents the inclusion of an AP in the report, a hand-drawn/computer transcription of any interesting features should be provided. Where possible transcriptions should be made on to a modern map base.

v) A plan with the extent of the proposed development area and showing the location of all known archaeological sites, Scheduled Monuments, Listed buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic battlefields in the proposed development area and the wider study area and all new sites identified during the desk-based assessment, labelled and cross-referenced to a gazetteer and the text.

vi) Any variation to the above requirements should be approved by the planning authority prior to work being submitted

Site Archive

A limited archive will need to be deposited in the appropriate local museum, once the report is produced. This should comprise:

i)
A copy of the report


ii)
Original illustrations and tracings that are not included in the report


iii)
A digital copy of the report and illustrations, where appropriate

Before the commencement of the work, contact should be made with the local museum to make the relevant arrangements. Details of the appropriate museum can be provided by the Assistant County Archaeologist. 

The archive should be completed within six months of the report being completed

Northumberland County Council will need confirmation that the archive had been submitted to the museum before approving the work. 

OASIS

Northumberland County Council Conservation Team and SMR support the Online Access to Index of Archaeological Investigations (OASIS) Project.  The overall aim of the OASIS project is to provide an online index to the mass of archaeological grey literature that has been produced as a result of the advent of large scale developer funded fieldwork.  

The archaeological consultant or contractor must therefore complete the online OASIS form at http://ads.ahds.ac.uk/project/oasis/. If the contractors are unfamiliar with OASIS, they are advised to contact Northumberland SMR prior to completing the form.  Once a report has become a public document by submission to or incorporation into the SMR, Northumberland SMR will validate the OASIS form thus placing the information into the public domain on the OASIS website.  The archaeological consultant or contractor must indicate that they agree to this procedure within the specification/project design/written scheme of investigation submitted to Northumberland County Council Conservation Team for approval

Publication

i) A summary should be prepared for 'Archaeology in Northumberland' and submitted to Liz Williams, Northumberland SMR Officer, by December of the year in which the work is completed.

ii) A short report of the work should also be submitted to a local journal if appropriate.

Further Guidance

Any further guidance or queries regarding the provision of a specification should be directed to:

Karen Derham


Assistant County Archaeologist

Northumberland County Council

County Hall

Morpeth

Northumberland

NE61  2EF

Tel:      01670 534057

Fax:     01670 533086

e-mail: kderham@northumberland.gov.uk
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